### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NO. SC05-1876

#### **BILLY LEON KEARSE,**

#### Appellant,

V.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

### Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

PAUL KALIL Florida Bar No. 0174114 Assistant CCRC-South

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - South 101 NE 3rd Avenue Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for St. Lucie County, Florida entered the judgments of conviction and sentence of death at issue. On February 5, 1991, Mr. Kearse was charged by indictment with one count of first-degree murder of Fort Pierce Police Officer Danny Parrish and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. On May 8, 1991, the indictment was amended to include one count of robbery with a firearm. (R1. 2428-32).

Mr. Kearse plead not guilty and was tried by a jury. Attorney Robert Udell represented Mr. Kearse at his trial and penalty phase. The jury rendered verdicts of guilty on the murder and robbery counts. (R1. 1864-5). After the first penalty phase, the jury recommended death for the first-degree murder conviction by a vote of eleven to one. (R1. 2361, 2671).

On November 8, 1991, the Honorable Marc A. Cianca imposed a sentence of death<sup>1</sup> for the murder of Officer Parrish and life imprisonment for robbery with a firearm. (R1. 2395, 2671). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Kearse's convictions but vacated the death sentence and remanded for a new penalty phase before a jury. Kearse v. State, 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995).

The second penalty phase was conducted on December 9 through 19, 1996. The State presented testimony to establish that the murder was committed in the course of a robbery and that the murder was committed to avoid arrest and hinder the enforcement of the laws, and the victim was a police officer.

Mr. Kearse presented several witnesses at the second penalty phase. Psychologist Fred Petrilla testified that he had spent more than 20 hours evaluating Mr. Kearse, performing a battery of neuropsychological tests including intelligence, reading, spelling and math testing, the Halstead-Reitan neuropsych battery, the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale-Revised ("WAIS-R"), The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory ("MMPI") and projective tests. Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the first sentencing phase Judge Cianca found four aggravating circumstances: 1) the murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in a robbery; 2) the murder was committed to either avoid arrest or hinder the enforcement of laws; 3) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC); and 4) the victim of the murder was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties. The judge found two statutory mitigating circumstances: the murder was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; and the defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. The judge also found three nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: the defendant's impoverished and culturally deprived background; the defendant was severely emotionally disturbed as a child; and the defendant's IQ is just above the retarded line. However, the judge determined that none of the mitigating circumstances "are substantial or sufficient to outweigh any aggravating circumstance."

Petrilla also met with Mr. Kearse's mother, Bertha, and took histories from her and others. (R2-T. 2147).

Dr. Petrilla opined that the killing of Officer Parrish was committed while Mr. Kearse was under extreme emotional disturbance, and that Mr. Kearse "most definitely" could not conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (R2-T. 2204).

Neuropharmachologist Dr. Jonathan Lipman testified that he personally evaluated Mr. Kearse, interviewed his mother, reviewed records and consulted with neuropsychologists. Dr. Lipman opined that Mr. Kearse has suffered from neurodevelopmental problems since before age 12 and, while Mr. Kearse does not meet the diagnostic criteria for Fetal Alcohol Syndrome ("FAS"), he does suffer from the related disorder, Fetal Alcohol Effect ("FAE"). As Dr. Lipman explained:

> In Fetal Alcohol Syndrome the bones in the face are unusually small and therefore the features of the face tend to gravitate to the center, there is no filtrum above the nose. . . The ventricles of the brain [are] usually abnormal in shape and size. The child is almost always brain damaged. Many of them die in the womb, some of them die shortly after birth, and a smaller number, those would be lesser degrees of damaged survive actually into adulthood, although they are retarded

> > \* \* \*

In Fetal Alcohol Effect there is no distinction in the bones of the face. The child is underweight at birth, often born premature, and remains small through the early years. . .which is consistent with the record of Billy Kearse

#### (R2-T. 2249-2251).

Dr. Lipman explained that FAE is a recognized disorder studied worldwide, although it was only recently understood at the time of his testimony. (R2-T. 2303). He based this his diagnosis on Mr. Kearse's history of pre-natal exposure to alcohol, his hyperkenetic activity, low birth weight, small size, hyperactivity and educational subnormalality, all of which are consistent with pre-natal alcohol exposure.

Dr. Lipman requested that brain scans be performed. While the brain scans did not support a specific diagnosis, they did indicate ventriculomegaly, an

enlargement of the left ventricle of Mr. Kearse's brain, which was consistent with his neuropsychological test results and findings of developmental brain dysfunction. (R2-T. 2255). Dr. Lipman opined that all of the records and tests confirmed "pervasive developmental abnormality" with very early onset. (R2-T. 2260). FAE subjects are hyporesponsive to stress (R2-T. 2263), and Mr. Kearse most likely misunderstood Officer Parrish's instructions when he effectuated the arrest. (R2-T. 2269). Mr. Kearse, while not psychotic, shows psychoticism under stress, detachment, and withdrawal. (R2-T. 2300-2303).

Pamela Baker testified that she is a licensed mental health counselor with a masters degree in mental health counseling who works with mentally handicapped individuals. Her findings supported Dr. Lipman's opinion that Mr. Kearse suffers from what is commonly termed "brain damage." (R2-T. 2209-11, R. 2123-5). Ms. Baker testified further that Mr. Kearse was diagnosed as severely emotionally handicapped in 1981, and continued to function "at a retarded level." (R2-T. 2033), and she described Mr. Kearse's impoverished, abusive and deprived background. (R2-T. 2052 - 60). Ms. Baker indicated that Mr. Kearse showed signs of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder, but Mr. Udell did not investigate this further. (R2-T. 2019). In addition to the expert mental health testimony, Mr. Kearse offered evidence to support non-statutory mitigation.

The State offered only one expert witness to rebut the mental health mitigation presented by Mr. Kearse. Daniel Martell, Ph.D. testified, inter alia, that Fetal Alcohol Effect is not a mental disorder (R2-T. 2370), that Mr. Kearse does not suffer from "brain damage" (R2-T. 2376), that Mr. Kearse is an antisocial personality (R2-T. 2389) and a "pathological liar" (R2-T. 2401), and that Mr. Kearse's history of emotional problems and poor academic performance resulted not from brain dysfunction, but from Mr. Kearse's "personal choice." (R2-T. 2395).

The jury again recommended death. (R2-T. 575). The Honorable C. Pfeiffer Trowbridge sentenced Mr. Kearse to death (R2. 706-9), finding two aggravating factors: (1) the murder was committed in the course of a robbery, and (2) the murder was committed to avoid arrest and victim was a law enforcement officer (merged). The court found age to be a statutory mitigating circumstance and gave it "some but not much weight." (R2. 708.). The court also found as nonstatutory mitigation that Mr. Kearse exhibited acceptable behavior at trial, and that he had a difficult childhood that resulted in psychological and emotional problems. (R2. 709). Judge Trowbridge relied on Dr. Martell's testimony above that of the defense experts in rejecting mitigation claims:

The evidence does not establish that the Defendant has organic brain damage from any source including Fetal

Alcohol Syndrome. He obviously has some personality disorders and has indulged in bad conduct all of his life. While the experts who testified disagreed, the Court finds that any mental or emotional disturbance was not extreme.

#### (R2. 708).

In a 4-3 opinion, this Court affirmed the death sentence. Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119 (2000).

Postconviction counsel for Mr. Kearse filed a "shell" Motion for Postconviction Relief before the "new" Rule 3.851 took effect on October 1, 2001. (PCR. 14-68).<sup>2</sup> On March 1, 2004, Mr. Kearse filed his Amended Motion To Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence. (PCR. 1458-1572). The Court conducted a Case Management Conference/Huff Hearing<sup>3</sup> on August 18, 2004. On August 23, 2004, the Circuit Court entered its order granting an evidentiary hearing on several claims and denying a hearing on others. (PCR. 1660-1663).<sup>4</sup>

On November 16, 2001, the State filed a responsive pleading to Mr. Kearse's Rule 3.850 Motion claiming that the motion was not properly verified. (PCR. 421 -548). On November 26, 2001, Judge Robert R. Makemson summarily dismissed Mr. Kearse's Rule 3.850 Motion without prejudice to refile. (PCR. 834-836).

On March 5, 2002, counsel for Mr. Kearse filed a Motion for Reinstatement of Petition Under Rule 3.850, demonstrating that Mr. Kearse's Motion for Postconviction Relief was properly verified. (PCR. 989-997). The State responded. (PCR. 1000-1006). On March 22, 2002, Hon. Marc A. Cianca denied Mr. Kearse's Motion for Reinstatement, but allowed sixt y (60) days for Mr. Kearse to file his Rule 3.850 Motion. (PCR. 1015). The same day, Mr. Kearse filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court of the Circuit Court's Order denying Mr. Kearse's motion for reinstatement. (PCR. 1017-8, SC02-716). That appeal was voluntarily dismissed on June 13, 2002. (PCR. 1108; SC02-716).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  As detailed in Mr. Kearse's "final" Amended Motion to Vacate, Mr. Kearse verified the "shell" motion, under oath before a notary public, in the presence of Counsel, on Wednesday, September 26, 2001. The entire Motion and Verification were sent via Federal Express on September 27, 2001 for delivery to the Clerk of the Circuit Court on September 28, 2001. The postconviction record indicates that Mr. Kearse's Motion arrived at the Clerk of the Circuit Court on October 3, 2001. Counsel's investigation into the cause of the delay revealed that Federal Express was two days late in shipping the package. Federal Express claimed that the delay resulted from counsel addressing the package to ZIP Code 34954, the Clerk's post office box, rather than 34950, the street address, though the address itself was accurate. (PCR. 1461).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (1993).
<sup>4</sup> The Circuit Court adopted its own numbering for the claims raised in Mr. Kearse's final 3.850 Motion. The court granted a hearing on Claims II(A)(1) ¶¶4-6, II(A)(3) ¶8, II(A)(7) ¶¶12-13, II(A)(8) ¶14, II(A)(9) ¶15, II(A)(11) ¶¶17-22, II(A)12 ¶¶23-24, and II(A)(13) ¶25 (regarding ineffective assistance of counsel); Claim II(C)(2) ¶31 (re: violations of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)); Claim II(D) (re: newly discovered evidence); Claim III and IV (re: Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), and ineffective assistance of counsel at penalty phase). The Circuit Court denied an evidentiary hearing on all remaining claims and sub-claims, including Claim I (re: public records); Claim II. (A)(2) ¶7 (re: ineffective assistance of counsel ("IAC") for failure to adequately cross-examine and/or impeach state witnesses with inconsistent prior testimony), Claim II (A)(3) ¶8 (re: IAC at the Motion to Suppress hearing; Claim II(A)(4)  $\P$  (failure to cross examine witness); Claim II(A)(5)  $\P$ 10 (IAC for failure to impeach state witness); Claim II(A)(6) ¶11 (re: IAC for failure to consult crime scene and firearms expert); Claim II(A)(8) ¶14 (re: IAC for failure to prepare witnesses/eliciting inadmissible testimony); Claim II(A)(10) ¶16 (re: IAC for failure to argue Mr. Kearse's age as a statutory mitigating factor); Claim II(A)12 ¶¶23-24. (re: IAC for

The Honorable Marc A. Cianca conducted the evidentiary hearing on April 18 - 21, 2005, and May 25, 2005. In addition to trial counsel, Robert Udell, Mr. Kearse presented several expert and lay witnesses at the hearing. The State called one witness, psychologist Daniel Martell, Ph.D., who had evaluated Mr. Kearse in 1996 and testified for the State at Mr. Kearse's second penalty phase.

After presenting evidence, the State and Mr. Kearse provided written memoranda to the circuit court. (PCR. 5560-5702). On August 20, 2005 the circuit court entered its order denying relief. (PCR. R. 5703).

This appeal follows.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Argument I: The Lower court erred in denying Mr. Kearse a new trial and/or penalty phase where trial counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance to Mr. Kearse in his guilt and penalty phase proceedings. Trial counsel failed to adequately prepare for mental health testimony of state and defense witnesses, failed to investigate the police officer victim's conduct and history of difficulties dealing with the public, failed to adequately prepare lay witnesses, including Mr. Kearse, for their testimony. Mr. Kearse was prejudiced as a result of counsel's failings.

Argument II: The trial court erred in denying Mr. Kearse a new penalty phase after Mr. Kearse presented newly discovered evidence to impeach the state's sole mental health expert. The newly discovered evidence establishes that the state's mental health witness is financially and philosophically beholden to prosecutors, biased, and lacked credibility.

Argument III: Mr. Kearse was denied his rights to due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution, because certain files and records pertaining to Mr. Kearse's case in the possession of state agencies, including Fort Pierce Police Department and the Office of the State Attorney have been withheld in violation of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes and Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852.

conceding aggravating factors without Mr. Kearse's consent); Claim II(B)1  $\[26]$  (re: judicial error/denial of cause challenge); Claim II(B)(3)  $\[28]$  (re: judicial erro/rejection of mental health mitigation); and Claim II(C)(1)  $\[29-30]$  (re: violations of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)); Claim V (introduction of non-statutory aggravators); Claim VI (re: pre-trial publicity, venue and events in courtroom denied Mr. Kearse a fair guilt - and penalty phase trial).

Counsel for both parties agreed that Claim VII (re: <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584; 122 S. Ct. 2428), and Claim VIII (re: the sentence rests upon an automatic aggravating circumstance), are legal claims for which evidentiary development was not necessary.

Argument IV: The bwer court erred in summarily denying several of Mr. Kearse's claims. The record and files do not conclusively show that Mr. Kearse is not entitled to relief. Mr. Kearse has plead facts which, at the very least, entitle him to an evidentiary hearing on these claims.

### ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. KEARSE A NEW TRIAL AND/OR PENALTY PHASE WHERE TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE TO MR. KEARSE IN HIS GUILT AND PENALTY PHASE TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

#### A. Introduction

The United States Supreme Court has recently reaffirmed the right of a capital defendant to the effective assistance of counsel. In the case of <u>Wiggins v.</u> <u>Smith</u>, 123 S. Ct. 2257 (2003), the Court emphasized the principles set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 558 (1984), when it restated:

We established the legal principles that govern claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)(citations omitted). An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense. <u>Id., at 687</u>. To establish deficient performance, a petitioner must demonstrate that counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." <u>Id., at 688</u>.

<u>Wiggins v. Smith</u>, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 2535. The Supreme Court further held that counsel has "[A] duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 668. (citation omitted). Mr. Kearse has proven both deficient performance and prejudice at the evidentiary hearing, undermining the adversarial testing process at trial.

Counsel in a capital case has a duty to conduct a "requisite, diligent investigation" into his client's background for potential mitigation evidence. <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 1524 (2000). <u>See also Id</u>. at 1515. ("trial counsel did not fulfill their obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant's background"); <u>State v. Riechmann</u>, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000)("an attorney has a strict duty to conduct a reasonable investigation of a defendant's background for possible mitigating evidence"). While an attorney is not required to investigate every conceivable avenue of potential mitigation, the Supreme Court has emphasized that:

In assessing the reasonableness of an attorney's investigation, however, a court must consider not only the quantum of known evidence already known to counsel, but also whether the known evidence would lead a reasonable attorney to investigate further.

(Wiggins v. Smith, 23 S. Ct. 2527, 2538 (2003)).

# Furthermore:

Strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable only to the extent that reasonable professional judgment supports the limitations on investigation.

Id. at 2539, citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690-691.

The applicable professional standards are set forth in the American Bar Association Standards of Criminal Justice, as <u>Wiggins</u> makes clear: Counsel's conduct ... fell short of the standards for capital defense work articulated by the American Bar Association. (ABA) --standards to which we have long referred as guides to determining what is reasonable" <u>Strickland</u>, supra at 688; <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, supra at 396. The ABA Guidelines provide that investigations into mitigating evidence "should comprise efforts to discover <u>all reasonably available mitigating evidence and evidence to rebut any aggravating evidence that may be</u> <u>introduced by the prosecutor</u>. (ABA Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases 11.41, p. 93 (1989)). (emphasis added).

Wiggins v. Smith, 123 S. Ct. at 2536-2537)(emphasis added).

Both the record of Mr. Kearse's penalty phase and the evidence presented at his evidentiary hearing reveal trial counsel made a "less than complete investigation" and that his omissions were the result of either no strategic decision at all, or by a "strategic decision" that was itself unreasonable, being based on inadequate investigation. As a result, counsel's performance was deficient with regard to both investigating and presenting mitigation, and challenging the State's case.  $^{5}$ 

## **B.** Deficient Performance

Trial Counsel's attitude toward this case and his client (and even some of his own witnesses) are apparent from the record. The trial began with trial counsel apologizing to the Court, the State, and his client for stating to the press that he fully anticipated Mr. Kearse being found guilty of first degree murder. On the weekend before the trial was to start, The Stuart News and the Port St. Lucie News reported:

# LAWYER EXPECTS CLIENT TO GET DEATH SENTENCE

The attorney for Billy Kearse, who goes on trial today, says he expects the jury to convict his client of first-degree murder and recommend the death sentence for the shooting death of a Fort Pierce police officer.

"You'll have an all-white jury hearing (that) for the silliest reason, he put 13 bullets in a white cop," said Robert Udell, Kearse's court-appointed attorney.

## (R1. 208).

Even before the trial began, Mr. Udell indicated that he had given up all hope for his client. Rather than vigorously advocate his client's position, Mr. Udell repeatedly qualified his motions and arguments.<sup>6</sup> Counsel's professional performance mirrored his personal attitudes toward his case and client.

The ABA Guidelines in effect at the time of Mr. Kearse's trial required that: Counsel must be experienced in the utilization of expert witnesses and evidence, such as psychiatric and forensic evidence, Guidelines 11.4.1(d)(7), 11.8.6(b)(8), and must

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