#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1876

BILLY LEON KEARSE,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA, (Criminal Division)

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 North Flagler Drive
9th Floor
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone: (561) 837-5000
Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

#

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

be overly broad or unduly burdensome. rule 3.851(g)(3)(C) and The State objected to the request on two grounds: (1) it was untimely<sup>37</sup> and (2) it was not relevant/calculated to lead to relevant information. (PCR.7 925). It reiterated these two grounds when the matter was heard by the court and noted that there had to be a finding that the records request was not overly broad or unduly burdensome; more focus was placed on the relevancy of the records. Postconviction counsel addressed that matter. (PCR.38 8-10, 44-45, 55-57). By an order dated December 20, 2003, the court ordered the State to produce the personnel files for in camera inspection to determine whether the files contained evidence reasonable calculated to lead to relevant evidence. (PCR.9 1319). After the in camera inspection, the court found nothing relevant in the files, nor anything calculated to lead to relevant information. (PCR.9 1343). Kearse takes issue with the time it took the court to make its ruling and the fact that an in camera inspection was held. Kearse's complaint is meritless.

While time limits are set by rule 3.852, for good cause extensions are available. Surely, if the court required more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The State noted that the court could grant an extesion of time beyond the 90 day limit, and postconviction counsel admitted that the requests were filed beyond the time limit, and asked that the time be excused. The vcourt did not deny the motion on timeliness grounds. (PCR.38 8-10, 27, 29, 31-34).

time to rule, and there was no provision that a ruling beyond the stated time limit would be deemed a denial or a default, then the court cannot be faulted for taking the time to consider the matter fully. See Fla. R. Crim P. 3.800(b)(1)9(B). Moreover, Kearse was given added time after resolution of his public records requests to amend his motion, thus, no prejudice arose from the time it took the court to rule. Furthermore, rule 3.852(g) requires that the court make a relevancy finding; it does not set limits on how that determination may be made. The court cannot be faulted for requiring production of the records for review so that a decision could be reached. Kearse has not shown an abuse of discretion.

Here, Kearse claims that the State should have required to produce the letter it sent to Udell in preparation for litigation. It was the State's position that its letter to Udell in preparation for this collateral litigation was workproduct exempt from public records disclosure. The court agreed given the nature of the letter and the witness to whom it was given, but upon Kearse's subsequent request, conducted an in camera review to determine if the letter was in fact workproduct. (PCR.35 5502-06, 5512-15; PCR.46 791-96; PCR.51 1432-The letter was characterized as one which was to educate Udell about the issues in the case through review of transcript and other matters. Such letter contained the

prosecutor's mental impressions of the case. Also, the State noted that the court had reviewed the letter for <u>Brady</u> material and found none. (PCR.51 1435-36). After the *in camera* review, the court affirmed its prior ruling.

This Court should affirm as the letter to Udell was exempt from disclosure under §119.071(1)(d)1, Fla. State (2005)<sup>38</sup> which provides: for the exemption of records prepared in anticipation of litigation; i.e., work-product materials. Udell, the subject of this collateral litigation was listed as a witness for both parties. The adversarial relationship between Kearse and Udell commenced with the filing of the postconviction motion.

In <u>State v. Kokal</u>, 562 So.2d 324, 327 (Fla. 1990), this Court acknowledged that a letter such as provided to Udell (SPCR 27-52-sealed) was not a public record stating: "of course, the state attorney was not required to disclose his current file

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> A public record that was prepared by an agency attorney ... that reflects a mental impression, conclusion, litigation strategy, or legal theory of the attorney or the agency, and that was prepared exclusively for civil or criminal litigation or for adversarial administrative proceedings, or that was prepared in anticipation of imminent civil or litigation or imminent adversarial administrative proceedings, is exempt from s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution until the conclusion of the litigation.... For purposes of capital collateral litigation as set forth in s. 27.7001, the Attorney General's office is entitled to claim this exemption for those public records prepared for direct appeal as well as for all capital collateral litigation after direct appeal until execution of sentence or imposition of a life sentence.

relating to the motion for postconviction relief because there is ongoing litigation with respect to those documents." State v. Rabin, 495 So.2d 257 (3d DCA 1986) (holding "opinion" work product is nearly absolutely privileged and therefore not subject to disclosure). This Court has upheld the opinion work product privilege respecting letters sent by the prosecutor to potential witnesses. See Reaves v. State, 639 So.2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1994) (finding no error in judge's determination that letters between the prosecutor and an expert witness "that contained work product were privileged and not subject to discovery"). See also Fla. R. Crim.P 3.220(g)(1) (stating "Work Product. Disclosure shall not be required of legal research or of records, correspondence, reports, or memoranda to the extent that they contain the opinions, theories, or conclusions of the prosecuting or defense attorney or members of their legal staffs") (emphasis supplied).

The work product privilege has been recognized for a letter from counsel to a potential witness which contained counsel's theory of the case. The Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded:

One of the documents is a 22-page summary of testimony that the defendant gave in a co-defendant's case. The other document is a 5-page summary of events, entitled "David Gore Chronology."

Discovery in criminal cases is governed generally by the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. ...

At the same time, rule 3.220(d)(2)(ii) requires the defendant to disclose any "[r]eports or statements of experts made in connection with the particular case, including results of physical or mental examinations and of scientific tests, experiments or comparisons."

We think that the defendant here has made a substantial showing of the former, i.e., "work product" of counsel, rather than the latter, i.e., reports or statements of experts. The two documents originated from his lawyer, not from his expert witness, and thus clearly fit within the terms, "records, correspondence, reports or memoranda", used in the work product rule. The remaining requirement is whether such correspondence contains the "opinions, theories or conclusions" of the lawyer.

We do not see how they can avoid doing so. The first document, the 22-page summary of defendant's deposition in his co-defendant's case, is probably the of an attorney's thoughts. A summary testimony necessarily incorporates the summarizer's thoughts and ideas of what to include and what to exclude, what is important and what inconsequential, what to emphasize and what to ignore, what is real and what is fanciful. To another lawyer knowledgeable of the case and its issues, this kind of summary declares the workings of the lawyer's mind who prepared it. It could easily be a roadmap of the trial strategy of the lawyer.

So too with the 5-page chronology. The selection of what events to relate to the witness may tell the opposing lawyer more about what the trial lawyer intends to elicit and emphasize than any discovery deposition ever could. The nature of the facts selected, and the peculiar phrasing used in their articulation, open up the trial lawyer's thought processes and mental impressions to his adversary. Indeed, the prosecutor's zeal to obtain the documents betrays more than anything we can say about the importance of them.

Gore v. State, 614 So.2d 1111, 1113-14 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). See
Smith v. State, 873 So.2d 585, 589 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) (agreeing

with analysis in <u>Gore</u>). Based upon this, it is clear that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying production of the prosecutor's letter to Udell.

#### CLAIM IV

## THE DENIAL OF EACH CLAIM WAS WELL REASONED AND SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD (restated)

Kearse asserts two sub-claims in this issue. In his first sub-claim, he maintains that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his allegation that the courtrooms for his first trial and re-sentencing were full of uniformed officers which created hostile atmosphere and interfered with the trial process (IB 87). As part of this complaint, Kearse adds that the court erroneously failed to attach portions of the record to refute the claim, thus, he is entitled to no relief. This claim is in part not preserved, because it was not raised below with respect to officers in the re-sentencing courtroom. With respect to the guilt phase challenge, it is legally insufficient and procedurally barred.

Kearse's second sub-claim lists ten allegations he made in his postconviction motion and notes that these "go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction." (IB 88-89). Without any argument related to any of these matters, Kearse again complains that records were not attached to the order denying relief. Some of these claim were heard at an evidentiary

hearing, while others were denied summarily. In either case, the denial of relief was proper and supported by the record and case law.

A court's summary denial of a postconviction motion will be affirmed where the law and competent, substantial evidence support its findings. Diaz v. Dugger, 719 So.2d 865, 868 (Fla. In Lucas v. State, 841 So.2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2003), this Court stated that: "To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record." See State v. Coney, 845 So.2d 120, 134-35 (Fla. 2003); Peede v. State, 748 So.2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999). Also, "[t]o support summary denial without a hearing, a court must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." McLin v. State, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002) (quoting Anderson v. State, 627 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993)).

<u>Uniformed officers in the courtroom</u> - In his postconviction motion, Kearse maintained that the <u>guilt phase trial</u> was tainted by the presence of uniformed officers.<sup>39</sup> While he quotes from

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Below, Kearse maintained his claim was incomplete because he was not able to interview jurors. (PCR.10 1502-04). Not only

the re-sentencing record, such was in support of his position that his guilt phase courtroom was hostile. (PCR.10 1505). As such, Kearse's challenge to the <u>atmosphere in the penalty phase courtroom</u> is not preserved for appeal; nonetheless, it is legally insufficient. 40 <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (opining "[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below.").

Rejecting the claim of a hostile courtroom, the court found:

In the second issue, Kearse claims that he was denied

has he abandoned the claim, having failed to raise it on appeal, but he was not entitled to juror interviews. While the law allows for juror interviews under certain circumstances, Kearse has not met them here. See, Marshall v. State, 854 So.2d 1235, 1240-44 (Fla. 2003) (remanding for limited inquiry on juror misconduct upon finding affidavit reporting racial comments by jurors did not inhere in verdict); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 920 (Fla. 2000) (affirming denial of juror interviews as such were fishing expedition); Mann v. State, 770 So.2d 1158, 1160, n.1 (Fla. 2000) (finding juror interview issue barred citing to Young v. State, 739 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1999)).

Wearse also suggests his sentence is unconstitutional due to the number of uniformed officers in the courtroom during the **second penalty phase** (PCR.10 1505). The State submits that this matter is a constitutional challenge which could have been made at trial and on direct appeal. Consequently, the instant review is procedurally barred. Muhammad v. State, 603 So. 2d 488, 489 (Fla. 1992) (finding issues which could have been "litigated at trial and upon direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack"); Kelly v. State, 569 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1990)(holding errors apparent from record are not cognizable in postconviction motion).

a fair trial due to the presence of uniformed law enforcement officers in and around the courtroom during the 1991 guilt phase. ... However, Kearse alleges no facts to explain the unacceptable risk, the impermissible factors, the threat, or the hostile courtroom created by the mere presence of the officers; and Kearse does not otherwise demonstrate prejudice caused by the conduct of the officers. Further, Kearse did not raise this constitutional challenge on direct appeal. Thus, the Court finds this claim legally insufficient and procedurally barred.

(PCR.37 5737-38). Such ruling is supported by the record. This is a correct application of the law and resolution of the facts. $^{41}$ 

In the second sub-claim, Kearse states:

Mr. Kearse has plead substantial factual allegations

The claim is legally insufficient. Kearse has not identified in the record any instances where the officers were disruptive or in any way intrusive upon the trial or jury. Venue was changed, and reviewed on appeal. No error was found with regard to such change. See Kearse, 770 So.2d at 1122-24. The pith of his claim is that the mere presence of people in the same line of employment as the victim in the courtroom establishes an unconstitutional atmosphere. Such conclusory claim without factual allegations. Hence, it is legally insufficient and should be denied summarily. LeCroy v. State, 727 So. 2d 236, 239 (Fla. 1998) 1998)(upholding summary denial of motion where there is no factual support for conclusory claim); Engle v. State, 576 So. 2d 698, 700 (Fla. 1992) (ruling that motion is legally insufficient absent factual support for allegations). Furthermore, the trial cited to Kearse's motion and its lack of factual allegations as well as the direct appeal case where the issue was not raised. summarily denying non-barred claims, the court must either conclude the claim is factually or legally insufficient on its face or "state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the motion." Anderson v. State, 627 So. 2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993). Such was done in this case.

relating to the guilt and penalty phases of his capital trial including: ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to adequately cross-examine and/or impeach state witnesses with inconsistent testimony; failure to cross examine witnesses at the Motion to Suppress hearing, failure to impeach state witnesses; failure to consult crime scene and firearm failure to prepare defense witnesses resulting in inadmissible testimony; 42 failure to argue Mr. Kearse's age as a statutory mitigating factor; conceding aggravating factors without Mr. Kearse's consent; judicial error/denial of cause challenges; judicial error/rejection of mental health mitigation; violations of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); introduction of non-statutory aggravators; and that pre-trial publicity, venue and events in courtroom denied Mr. Kearse a fair guilt and penalty phase trial. These claims go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction.

(IB 88-89). Given Kearse's lack of argument in support of these claims, they should be deemed waived. <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal" - notation to issues without elucidation is insufficient and issue will be deemed waived); <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 856 So.2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). While it is clear that these claims are waived, the State presents the following brief argument in support of the

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